U

DONALD TOBKIN, M.D., ESQ.,

Petitioner,

v.

<u>.</u>

KIMBERLY L. JARBOE, DEBORAH S. JARBOE, LINDA JARBOE, and ESTATE OF RYAN JARBOE,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON MERITS

RICHARD A. BARNETT, P.A. RICHARD A. BARNETT, ESQ. 121 South 61st Terrace Suite A Hollywood, Florida 33023 Telephone: (954) 961-8550 FBN 257389

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

This case arises from the Dismissal with Prejudice of the Fourth Amended Complaint by Donald A. Tobkin, M.D., Esquire, Plaintiff against Kimberly L. Jarboe and Linda Jarboe, Defendants (R.1573-1576).

This Fourth Amended Complaint consists of two counts of defamation, one each against Kimberly L. Jarboe and Linda Jarboe. They arose out of an attorney-client relationship between Donald A. Tobkin, M.D., Esquire and the Jarboes in connection with the handling of a Pennsylvania Estate to which the Jarboes were beneficiaries.

The substantive allegations of the written defamatory remarks by each defendant are contained in Paragraphs 19 and 37 of the Fourth Amended Complaint. (See Appendix "A" attached).

Kimberly Jarboe wrote a letter to the Florida Bar in connection with a Bar Complaint dated February 25, 1992 which stated that Tobkin had taken advantage of their family's inexperience, misled them on his qualifications, implied that the estate lawyer was conspiring to steal millions of dollars, requested that large sums of money be transferred from the estate without a receipt, all of which behavior was a disgrace to the legal profession.

The Defamation by Linda Jarboe against Tobkin was in the form of a writing which Tobkin did not possess but was in possession of the Florida Bar. (See Exhibit "I" to the Fourth Amended Complaint). The allegations were similar to those of Kimberly

Jarboe. Linda Jarboe affirmed them verbally and in writing to a Florida Bar Grievance Committee.

The Motion to Dismiss the Fourth Amended Complaint was argued on March 25, 1996. The Court dismissed the Complaint with prejudice for lack of personal jurisdiction predicated upon Tobkin's failure to provide pre-suit notice to the Jarboes' as prescribed by Florida Statute 770.01 (1993). Plaintiff had contended that Florida Statute 770.01 (1993) did not apply to **non**media defendants. The Motion for Rehearing with was denied. (R. 1584).

Tobkin then appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeals reiterating his argument that F.S. **§770.01** (1993) did not apply to non-media defendants.

The Fourth District agreed with Tobkin but affirmed the dismissal on a legal ground that was not argued on appeal. The Court held the Jarboes were immune from any liability resulting from defamation in the context of a Florida Bar Disciplinary Proceeding. See <u>Tobkin v. Jarboe</u> 695 **So.2d** 1257 (Fla 4th DCA 1997) (Appendix "B" attached).

Tobkin sought discretionary review in this Court based on express and direct conflict between the Fourth District decision and cases relied on therein with this Court's decision in <u>The Fla.</u> <u>Bar Re: Amendments</u> 558 **So.2d** 1008, 1014 (Fla 1990) which adopted the rule that a complainant (Jarboe) may be sued for defamation.

Plaintiffs further sought jurisdiction under the "All Writs" power of the Court.

On November 6, 1997 this Court accepted jurisdiction.

POINT ON APPEAL

The Appellate Court erred in concluding that an attorney subject to an unsuccessful Bar complaint did not have the right to sue the complainant for defamation.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has held that an attorney subject to an unsuccessful Bar complaint may sue for defamation. That decision occurred at the same time the Court held that grievance proceedings were public. <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendments</u> 558 **So.2d** 1008, 1014 (Fla 1990)

Notwithstanding the unequivocal statement of this Court and the practice of the Florida Bar that Bar grievance complainants are subject to suit for invalid claims, the Fourth District Court of Appeal rejected that position in this case on precisely the same issue relying on <u>Stone v. Rosen</u> 348 **So.2d** 387 (Fla 3rd DCA 1997).

In its opinion permitting attorneys to sue for false grievance claims, this Court stated:

"public respect and confidence in the primarily self operated lawyer disciplinary system can best be gained in allowing the public to determine for itself that the grievance system works efficiently, fairly and accurately."

Furthermore, an examination of the power of openness reveals that the ultimate goal stated in <u>Stone v. Rosen</u> of maintaining a high standard of lawyer conduct, even if attorneys wrongly accused cannot redress that wrong, are now more effectively achieved by a system in which the public knows which attorneys are subject to claims which has a deterrent effect upon attorney behavior.

What previously had to be achieved in secrecy by encouraging valid claims is now achieved by the very fact of public knowledge which deters a great deal of substandard lawyering before it happens.

Since the claim mechanism is tremendously enhanced by the openness of the process in terms of deterrence, allowing attorneys to sue for wrongful claims, even if there is a marginal decrease of valid claims of which there is no evidence, does not compromise the overall effect on the level of attorney behavior.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Court has already decided this issue. For whatever reason, the intermediate Appellate Courts are not following this Court as exemplified by this case. Therefore, as a matter of the administration of justice and so that attorneys and complainants alike are operating under the same ground rules, a decision is needed by this Court overruling <u>Stone</u> <u>v. Rosen</u> and its **progency.**

ARGUMENT

The question presented is whether this Court, having declared that grievance hearings are public, now permits attorneys falsely accused of wrongdoing to sue grievance Complainants for defamation.

Until the opinion of this Court in <u>The Florida Bar Re</u>: <u>Amendments</u> 558 **So.2d** 1008 (Fla 1990) determined that grievance procedures would be public and seemingly permitted wrongfully accused attorneys to sue a complainant for defamation, the Florida Law **was stated by** the Third District in Stone v. Rosen 348 **So.2d** 387 (Fla 3rd DCA 1977).

The <u>Stone</u> decision was issued in the context of private grievance procedures. It relied upon an opinion by Justice William Brennen in <u>Toft v.Ketchum</u> 13 A2d 671 (N.J. 1955) cert. denied 350 US 887, in which he concluded that it was more important for citizens to freely file grievances without fear of defamation suits than for attorneys to suffer the hardship of being falsely accused to the detriment of their reputation and possibly their living.

Implicit in Justice Brennen's reasoning was the assumption that if a grievance became public knowledge both reputation and earning power may be injured.

Since, at the time of the <u>Stone</u> opinion, grievance proceedings were confidential, the countervailing interest in protecting attorneys from being wrongfully accused to the detriment of reputation and earnings was absent. Since Floridians would not know of a grievance against an attorney, there would be no basis for an attorney to seek damages in a defamation action.

The actual ratio descendendi of <u>Stone</u> was not the concern of Justice Brennen in <u>Toft</u> supra, since hearings were private but rather in the oft-quoted statement cited in the Fourth District opinion from which this case arises. Since lawyers enjoy a certain status and benefits as members of the legal profession they must forego rights to sue an unsuccessful complainant as the price to be paid to maintain the high standards of the profession and to discipline lawyers who violate the Cannons of Ethics.

The assumption is that if lawyers were allowed to sue complainants for false claims this would have a chilling effect on those with valid claims thus decrease the number of lawyers disciplined for wrongdoing and thereby reduce the standards for the profession.

The question raised by such reasoning is whether, in the context of public grievances, by which an attorney's reputation and ability to earn a living can be damaged by a wrongful complaint, would the right of an attorney to sue for false claims decrease the number of valid claims and are there other countervailing advantages of public grievances which would outweigh any marginal reduction in valid claims.

These were some of the issues that the Florida Bar, The Disciplinary Review Commission and this Court considered which resulted in <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendments</u> 558 **So.2d** 1008 (Fla 1990) in which grievance proceedings were deemed public information.

This action was taken by the Court as a result of a Petition by the Board of Governors of the Florida Bar pursuant to Rule 1-12.1 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar in connection with the recommendation of a Disciplinary Review Commission.

This Court adopted all amendments proposed by the Board of Governors of the Florida Bar except certain recommendations of the Commission that the Gag Rule be abolished and the Complainant not be given immunity from civil liability for false claims but be subject to applicable Florida law.

This Court commented on the Gag Rule and the related issue of defamation actions:

"While we believe that the amendments removing the Gag Rule should be applied retroactively, we decline to retroactively apply those provisions opening disciplinary files to public inspections for several reasons. First, in many cases information contained in the file was given under the belief that the information would remain confidential and that the Complaint would have absolute immunity. See, e.g., Stone v. Rosen 348 So.2d 387 (Fla 3rd 1977)(Complainant has absolute immunity DCA from liability arising out of making a grievance complaint). It would be unfair now to change the rules after the fact and open those records to the public. The publication of the confidential information in those records could subject a complainant to a possible suit for libel and slander. (Italics added)

This Court stated that the provisions allowing public access to disciplinary records shall apply only to those actions for which a disciplinary file is opened on or after the effective date.

There can be no doubt that on and after March 17, 1990, it was the specified intention of this court that the grievance process would be open to the public and that attorneys who were wrongly grieved against could file defamation suits.

The decision in <u>Stone</u> made logical sense under a system in which the attorney could not be harmed by a private grievance. However, once a grievance became public the argument in <u>stone</u> is no longer persuasive in that an attorney would have no mechanism by which to protect his reputation against a baseless public grievance.

Under a private system, the public did not know which lawyers were the subject of repeated Bar complaints and which lawyers had, on many occasions, not fulfilled their duties.

Under a public system, such knowledge is available.

Under a private system, the public would not learn of either individual or respective claims, therefore, it was more important to encourage claims since the maintenance of high professional standards was solely dependent on complainants bringing claims.

Under a public system, public knowledge of practitioners who are repeatedly accused of wrongdoing act as a market force, if you will, to raise practice standards.

Since such is the case, to the extent that an attorney may sue a complainant for a false claim, although it will discourage false claims and, on the margin some valid ones, this concern is dwarfed by the salutary effect of public grievances on the general behavior of attorneys.

An attorney, based upon the very considerations enunciated by Justice Brennen, will think long and hard about violating a client's rights if he knows that he may not only be subject to a grievance but that his actions will be public knowledge.

Since bad publicity may not only deter bad practice but ruin a good one it only stands to reason that an attorney who has been publicly wronged ought to be able to vindicate himself.

By the same token, complainants who persist in bringing false claims will also be subject to the light of day.

Because of the power of public grievances to deter, even if some valid claims are discouraged by attorney defamation suits, the goals stated in <u>Stone</u> are more effectively achieved than by a system solely dependent upon each claim to raise the level of practice.

In order to implement the ruling of the Florida Supreme Court, the Florida Bar has issued a Florida Bar Inquiry/Complaint form (Exhibit 3). This form states in pertinent part as follows:

"False statements made in bad faith or with malice may subject you to civil or criminal liability. Further information may be found in the pamphlet "Complaint against a Florida Lawyer?" (Italics added)

" Complaint against a Florida Lawyer" (Exhibit 4) states: "because inquiries and complaints are no longer confidential, you do not have absolute immunity from suit for filing your inquiry." <u>The **general**</u> law of libel and slander **applies.** Italics added.

Based on this Court's abolition of immunity for citizen grievances after March 17, 1990, The Florida Bar has sent Inquiry/Complaint forms and "Complaint against a Florida Lawyer" pamphlets to thousands of perspective complainants, both of which state there is no immunity from a defamation action for grievance complainants.

Plaintiff would urge the Court to reject the argument that its opinion in <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendments</u> 558 **So.2d** 1008 (Fla 1990) did not concern a controversy between or among parties and therefore is not within Constitutional Article 5 Section (3)(b)(3) which states:

"The Supreme Court may review any decision of a District Court of Appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another District Court of Appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law."

The term decision is not limited to decisions resolving controversies between two parties. There is no question that the Supreme Court's opinion in <u>The Florida Bar Re: Amendments To The</u> <u>Rules</u> 558 **So.2d** 1008 (Fla 1990) is a decision. It is a decision that affects not just two parties but the relationship between the Florida Bar and the public.

Finally, this Court is asked to clarify the situation since thousands of Bar members and citizens are operating under the notion that they can sue or be sued for defamation yet the intermediate appellate courts are deciding just the opposite. Expectations of both attorneys and the public need to be clarified for the proper administration of justice.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully requested that this Court overrule <u>Stone v.</u> <u>Rosen</u>, reiterate its position that an attorney **may** sue a Bar complainant for a false **claim** and remand this case to the Circuit Court for further proceedings consistent with its ruling.