IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 91,236

DONALD A. TOBKIN, M.D., ESQ.,

Petitioner,

vs.

KIMBERLY L. JARBOE and LINDA JARBOE,

Respondents.

On Petition for Review of a Decision of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District, or for a Writ Necessary to the Complete Exercise of this Court's Jurisdiction

Answer Brief of Respondents

Thomas R. Julin
Edward M. Mullins
Eduardo W. Gonzalez
Florida Bar No. 325376 & 863920

Steel Hector & Davis LLP 200 S. Biscayne Blvd. Suite 4000 Miami, Florida 33131-2398 305.577.2810 or 2844 Fax 7001

Attorneys for Kimberly L. Childress and Linda Jarboe

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

^{17.} An "official proceeding" means "a proceeding heard . . . before any . . . official authorized to take evidence under oath." § 837.011(1), Fla. Stat. (1995). Grievance committees are authorized to take evidence under oath. See R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-3.1. Thus, a proceeding before a grievance committee is an "official proceeding." Individuals who make false statements under oath in non-official proceedings are guilty of perjury. See § 837.012(1), Fla. Stat. (1995).

stat. (1995) . Any individual filing a grievance is **also** subject to a grievance committee's power to hold individuals in **contempt.**¹⁸

2. A Non-Adversarial Rule-Making Proceeding Cannot Overturn a Uniformly Held Rule of Substantive Law

Amendments to the Rules could not, in any event, alter the common-law. Promulgation of Bar rules cannot overturn a common-law privilege. This Court's rule-making power 'is limited to rules governing procedural matters and does not extend to substantive rights. "19 Specifically, this Court has concluded that its power to adopt rules pertaining to the Florida Bar does not affect substantive law:

[C]ourts have, inherent power to make rules governing contempt, admission to the bar, and for conduct of the business brought before them, but the courts have no power to effect substantive law or jurisdiction. 20

This Court could not have overturned this State's substantive

^{18.} As agents of the Supreme Court of Florida, grievance committees can hold Bar complainants in contempt. See R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-3.1. The Florida Bar Rules provide that grievance committees possess those powers that are "necessary to conduct the speedy and proper disposition of any investigation or cause." Id.

^{19.} Boyd v. Becker, 627 so.2d 481, 484 (Fla. 1993); see also In re Standard Jury Instructions' il C es 89-1), 575 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1991) (proposed jury instructions are "'not an adjudication on the merits of the form, substance, or correctness of the instructions'") (citation omitted); Lundstrom v. Lyon, 86 So. 2d 771, 772 (Fla. 1956) ("[I]t cannot be doubted that courts may not by rule of practice either by statutory or inherent rule making authority, amend or abrogate a right resting in either substantive or adjective law.").

^{20.} In re Fla. State Bar Ass h for Promulgation of New Fla. Rules of Civil Procedure, 199 so.57 (Fla. 1944) (emphasis added); See also In re Jacksonville Bar Ass'n, 169 so. 674, 675 (Fla. 1936) (concluding that "rules of court must be subordinate to law and in cases of conflict the law will prevail").

law on the basis of a nonadversarial rule-making proceeding.

3. This Court's Promulgation of Bar Rules Does Not Create Any Type of Jurisdiction By which This Court can Overrule Stone v. Rosen

Although this Court has accepted review of this case, it should discharge jurisdiction if, on closer examination, it finds no basis for exercising jurisdiction.²¹ No basis exists here.

a. A Promulgation of Florida BarRules Does Not Create Conflict Jurisdiction

In seeking this Court's review of the Fourth District's decision, Tobkin argued that the Fourth District's decision conflicted with Amendments to the Rules and therefore this Court had conflict jurisdiction. See (Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdiction at 2-6) citing Art. V, § 3(b) (3), Fla. Const. (this Court may review district court decision "that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision . . . of the supreme court on the same question of law"). In fact, the Fourth District's decision was not in conflict with any adversarial decision of any district court decision or decision from this Court. Constitutionally, this Court simply lacks jurisdiction to review the Fourth District's decision.

This Court previously has held that its promulgation of procedural rules does not create conflict jurisdiction. For example, rules of procedure are enacted by this Court through

^{21.} See Kennedy v. Kennedy, 641 so. 2d 408, 409 (Fla. 1994) (after initially granting jurisdiction to review district court decision based upon conflict, declining jurisdiction "upon closer examination of the decision under review"); Department of Revenue v. Johnston, 442 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1983) (discharging jurisdiction after determining no conflict existed upon closer review of facts); City of Jacksonville v. Florida First Nat'l Bank 339 so. 2d 632 (Fla. 1976) (same).

Article V, section 2 of the Florida Constitution. In Allstate Insurance Co. v. Langston, however, this Court held that it 'does not have jurisdiction based on alleged conflict with a rule of civil procedure." 655 So. 2d 91, 93 n.1 (Fla. 1995); see also State v. Lvons, 293 So. 2d 391, 3'93 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974) (no conflict jurisdiction based upon alleged conflict between criminal rule of procedure and case from this Court).

Additionally, this Court's passing comments about Stone in The Amendments to the Rules cannot invoke the Court's jurisdiction. The Florida Constitution requires an express and direct conflict of "decisions," before this Court can properly exercise jurisdiction. See Art. V, § 3(b) (3), Fla. Const. This Court narrowly has read the word "decision." A decision is not language or expressions found in a dissenting or concurring opinion or in the record, Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986); nor is it a ruling from the district court when the mandate is withheld because the en banc district court was split on the issue, Boler v. State, 678 So. 2d 319, 320 n.2 (Fla. 1996), nor is it "conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." <u>Gibson v. Malonev</u>, 231 So. 2d 823, 824 (Fla. 1970) (emphasis in original); Niemann v. Niemann, 312 So. 2d 733, 734-35 (Fla. 1975). Nor, is it obiter dicta. Ciongoli v. State, 337 So. 2d 780, 781 (Fla. 1976) (certiorari discharged). Indeed, if this Court finds that it did make a constitutional "decision" for purposes of conflict jurisdiction in Amendments to the Rules, its brief discussion of <u>Stone</u> represents no more than obiter dicta. Pell v. State, 122 So. 110, 112 (Fla. 1929) (parts of opinion not

essential to the decision merely represent *dicta* and have no force as precedent).

This issue should not be taken lightly. If this Court decides that dicta in a rule making proceeding can and did overrule an adversarial decision from a district court of appeal, it will dramatically increase the number of cases over which this Court may exercise jurisdiction.²²

b. This Court Lacks Jurisdiction Over this Petition Under Its "All Writs" Power

Just as clearly, this Court does not have jurisdiction over this petition based upon Tobkin's argument that the Fourth District's decision somehow affected this Court's ability to regulate attorneys, citing this Court's "all writs" authority pursuant to of article V, section 3(b) (7), Florida Constitution.

This Court's all writs power is "confined to a class of cases over which the Court normally would have some form of original or appellate jurisdiction, but where the full and complete exercise of that jurisdiction seems likely to be curtailed or'defeated before the Court could otherwise hear the case." Gerald Kogan & Robert Craig Waters, The Operation and Juri'sdiction of the Florida Supreme Court, 18 Nova L. Rev. 1152, 1266 (1994). The all writs power "cannot be used as an independent basis of jurisdiction." St.

^{22.} Just in this decade, the Court has promulgated or amended procedural rules in over 150 proceedings. Of these 150 proceedings, over 40 of them dealt with Florida Bar matters. See (attached appendix). Concluding that Amendments to the Rules is a decision that invoke conflict jurisdiction will open over 150 proceedings upon which future petitioners will base their appeals.

<u>Title Ins. Corp. v. Davis</u>, 392 So. **2d** 1304, **1305** (Fla. 1980) (emphasis added).

This Court's jurisdiction over the admission and discipline of lawyers under article V, section 15, of the Florida Constitution cannot supply the all writs source of jurisdiction. In State ex rel. Chiles v. Public Employees Relations Commission, 630 So. 2d 1093 (Fla. 1994), the state petitioned for review of a PERC decision to proceed with certification of a bargaining unit for state-employed attorneys, arguing certification would interfere with the Court's jurisdiction over lawyers. This Court denied the petition, holding the mere fact that lawyers would be affected by the PERC decision could not justify use of the "all writs" power. Id. at 1095.

Similarly, the Fourth District's decision in this case that a common-law' privilege protects the public's right to complain about attorneys does not encroach upon this Court's jurisdiction over the admission or discipline of attorneys. Indeed, the decision entirely removes whatever tangential impact the common law of libel might have on the Court's ability to discipline lawyers by immunizing those who complain to the Florida Bar from liability for common-law libel claims. Indeed, nothing in the Fourth District's decision in this case prevents this Court from revisiting the issue of confidentiality of Bar complaints or otherwise constricts this Court's power to amend the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

The Court has no need to resort to its "all writs" power to protect its jurisdiction to admit and discipline lawyers. Cases which require invocation of the all writs provision are

extraordinary and exceptionally rare. This is not one of them.

II.

PLAINTIFF'S CIVIL ACTION FOR DEFAMATION WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED FOR FAILURE TO GIVE PRE-SUIT NOTICE PURSUANT | O SECTION 770.01

An alternative basis for affirming dismissal is the ground relied upon by the trial court: the plaintiff failed to provide the defendants notice before filing suit of the published statements he alleged to be false and defamatory.²³ Section 770.01, Fla. Stat. (1991), requires such notice to be given before the commencement of any civil action for libel or slander and often makes litigation unnecessary by encouraging voluntary corrective action. Failure to comply with this pre-suit requirement mandates dismissal.²⁴ Moreover, dismissal must be with prejudice if the statute of limitations has run.²⁵

In this case, Tobkin has admitted that he did not give the notice required by section 770.01 and that it **is now** too late to

^{23.} Once this Court accepts jurisdiction, it can review and determine all issues before it. See Lawrence v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 346 So. 2d 1012, 1014 n.2 (Fla.1977) (concluding that the Court may "consider any error in the record" once the case is properly before it for review); see also Fla. R. App. P. 9.040 ("In all proceedings a court shall have jurisdiction as may be necessary for a complete determination of the cause") (emphasis added).

^{24. &}lt;u>See Ross v. Gore</u>, 48 So. 2d 412, 415 (Fla. 1950) ("giving of notice in writing is a condition precedent to suit").

^{25.} See Orlando Sports Stadium. Inc v. Sentinel Star Co. 316 So. 2d 607, 610 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975) (affirming dismissal with prejudice where plaintiff provided notice only after filing suit for defamation).

give such **notice**. He has argued only that the statute is not applicable here because the defendants are not members of the "media."

That argument might have been successful under the version of section 770.01 that existed in 1950, but it cannot be successful In 1950, section 770.01 applied on its face only in actions against a "newspaper or periodical." Chapter 16070, Laws of Florida, Acts of 1933. This Court recognized in Ross v. Gore, 48 2d 412(Fla. 1950), that that language rendered the statute unavailable to defendants other than newspaper and periodical publishers, but nonetheless rejected an argument that the law violated principles of equal protection. The Court held that treating newspaper publisher differently was valid classification based upon some difference in the classes having a substantial relation to the purpose for which the legislation was designed and is not, therefore, contrary to the 'equal protection' clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the Federal Constitution." **Id.** at 416.

Almost four decades later, decisions like **Ross** have been questioned because they 'came at a time when first amendment and equal protection jurisprudence was substantially less developed than is the case today." Rodeny A. Smolla, **Law of Defamation** § 9.12[2][b] n. 155 (1986). The "time is . . . ripe for a new and

^{26.} Because the statute of limitations governing civil claims for libel is two years, Fla. Stat. § 95.11(4)(g) (1991), and Tobkin's action accrued, if at all, upon fist publication in 1989, Fla. Stat. § 770.07, dismissal of the lawsuit pursuant to section 770.01, Fla. Stat., for failure to comply with a condition-precedent to suit would be fatal to his claim.

serious challenge to many of the restrictions in the **coverage** of typical retraction statutes." <u>Id</u>.

The Florida Legislature had anticipated that challenge, however, when in 1976 it amended section 770.01 to make it applicable to lawsuits arising from publication not only in newspapers and periodicals, but also in lawsuits arising form publication in any "other medium." Chapter 76-123, Laws of Florida. Two persuasive federal district court decisions, Lanev v. Knight-Ridder Newspapers. Inc., 532 F. Supp. 910 (S.D. Fla. 1982), King v. Burris, 588 F. Supp. 1152 (D. Colo. 1984) (applying Florida law), rendered soon after this amendment, agreed that the broadening of the statute in 1976 made it applicable in all civil actions for libel and thus protected the statute against constitutional attack.

In Laney, Judge James Lawrence King held, 'The better interpretation of the statute's applicability, as it is the most fair, is that the provision is applicable to all defendants in actions for libel or slander. . . . Notice affords defendants the opportunity to issue a retraction or even to settle the overall conflict, thereby mitigating damages or eliminating litigation altogether. 532 F. Supp. at 913. Judge King held that an interpretation limiting application of section 770.01 to media defendants "strains against considerations of fairness as well as against the declarations in other libel cases which expressly or impliedly state that notice must simply be provided to "defendants." Id. at 912.

Then, in **King v. Burris**, another district judge held that the Florida Legislature obviously, intended to extend the protection of

the pro-suit notice statute to non-media defendants when it amended the statute in 1976 to make it applicable in actions arising from publication in any "other medium." 588 F. Supp. at 1158. In King, the claim was based on an oral statement by the president and general manager of a professional baseball organization at a meeting of the American Association of Professional Baseball Clubs. Id. at 1154.

Later, however, intermediate Florida appellate court decisions disagreed with this interpretation of the 1976 amendment and held that the pre-suit notice requirement should be regarded as -applicable only to media defendants."

This Court then wrote in <u>Wagner</u>. <u>Nugent</u>. <u>Johnson</u>. <u>Roth</u>. <u>Romano</u>. <u>Erikson & Kupfer</u>. <u>P.A. v. Flanagan</u>, 629 So. 2d 113 (Fla. 1993), a case involving an interpretation of section 770.07, that "[a]lthough Chapter 770 primarily addresses media defendants, we note that the chapter is broadly titled Civil Actions for Libel. We hold the above statute applicable to all civil litigants, both public and private, in defamation actions." <u>Id</u>. at 115.

The trial judge interpreted this language to mean just what it says and dismissed the case. The Fourth District, on the other hand, treated **Wagner's** interpretation of chapter 770 as dictum and rejected the argument that all aspects of chapter 770, including section 770.01, must be treated as applicable in all civil actions

^{27.} Gifford v. Bruckner, 565 So. 2d 887 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990); Della-Donna v. Gore Newspapers Co., 463 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985); see also Corkery v. SuperX Drugs Corp., 602 F. Supp. 42 (M.D. Fla. 1985).

for libel. 28 Tobkin v. Jarboe, 695 So. 2d 1257, 1258 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). That aspect of the Fourth District's decision is incorrect.

Section 770.01 itself states that pre-suit notice must be given before "any civil action is brought for publication or broadcast, in a newspaper, periodical, or other medium " § 770.01, Fla. Stat. (1991) (emphasis added). The term "other medium" does expand the applicability of the statute well beyond special media interests such as newspapers to encompass any form of publication, including private letters.²⁹

Moreover, section 770.01 requires a plaintiff to serve notice on "the defendant" instead of the "newspaper publisher,"

^{28.} Such "dictum of the Florida Supreme Court is not without value as precedent." Weisenberg V. Carlton, 233 So. 2d 659, 660-61 (2d DCA), cert. denied 240 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1970). If the Fourth District disagreed with this Court, 'the proper course would have been to rule in accordance with" Wagner. Nugent and then to certify the case to this Court. Continental Assurance Co. v. Carroll, 485 So, 2d 406, 409 (Fla. 1986).

^{29.} Cf. Nelson v. Associated Press. Inc., 667 F. Supp. at 1474 (concluding that the phrase "other medium" in section 770.01 "should be read broadly," and applying 770.01 in suit against wire service); The American Heritage Dictionary 815 (New College ed. 1980) ("medium" is an "agency, such as a person, object, or quality, by means of which something is . . . conveyed"); Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary, 1403 (1986) (medium is "something through or by which something is accomplished, conveyed or carried on"). Only one other state notice statute uses the term "medium", and that law has been interpreted as applying to both media and non-media defendants. Nebraska's retraction statute provides that a plaintiff may recover general damages only after requesting a correction from a defendant who has defamed the plaintiff "by any medium." Neb. Rev. Stat. § 25-840.01 (1995). Nebraska courts have applied this language to non-media defendants. See, e.g., Whitcomb v. Nebraska State Educ. Ass n 165 N.W.2d 99 (Neb. 1969) (applying the state's pre-suit notice 'statute to a case involving alleged defamation by a report of the Nebraska State Education Association, a private non-media defendant).

"periodical publisher," or "media defendant." Had the legislature intended to limit the applicability of section 770.01 to media defendants, it easily could have done so by inserting language to that effect in the statute. To put it another way, "[i]f the legislature did intend to so limit the applicability of this provision, it seems logical that a specific retraction would have been inserted into the statute. One may reasonably infer from the generality of the language, therefore, that the statute requires notice to all potential defendants in an action for libel or slander." Laney, 532 F. Supp. at 912.

Both Laney and King echoed the commentators' concerns that interpreting the statute as providing special protection for media defendants only might well render it unconstitutional in light of modern equal protection principles. The Fourth District did not share that concern and criticized the Jarboes for not citing "authority for the proposition that the right to pre-suit notice under section 770.01 is a fundamental right." Tobkin, 695 So. 2d But, the constitutional issue is not whether pre-suit at 1259. notice is a fundamental right. No one is arguing that it is. The issue is whether the Legislature may single out a particular class of speakers for special protection and then deny that same protection to other speakers. Modern United States Supreme Court decisions rendered after **Ross** have recognized that discrimination between different types of speakers creates such a danger that speech will be regulated on the basis of its content that the discrimination can be justified only by compelling

governmental interests.³⁰ There plainly are no compelling interests that would justify treating media and non-media defendants differently and therefore the statute should not be interpreted as imposing such different treatment.

Florida courts have "the duty if reasonably possible, and consistent with constitutional rights, to resolve doubts as to the validity of a statute in favor of its constitutional validity and to construe a statute, if reasonably possible, in such a manner as to support its constitutionality."³¹

Here, "[g]iven that an interpretation upholding the constitutionality of the act is available to this Court, it must adopt that construction," rather than strike down the statute and apply it to no one. Miami Dolphins, Ltd v. Metropolitan Dade County, 394 so. 2d 981, 988 (Fla. 1981). Indeed, such a construction would be consistent with the established 'rule that

^{30.} See, e.g., A r k 'a n s a s, 481 U.S. 221 (1987); Minneapolis Star & Tribune Co. v. Minnesota Comm'r of Revenue 460 U.S. 575 (19833); Police Dep' of Chicago v. Moslev, 408 U.S.' 92, 95 (1972); Carev v. Brown, 447 U.S. 455 (1980); Niemotko v. Maryland, 340 U.S. 268 (1951); see generally, Kenneth L. Karst, Equality as a Central Principle in the First Amendment, 43 U. Chi. L. Rev. 20 (1975).

^{31.} Leeman v. State, 357 so. 2d 703, 705 (Fla. 1978); Corn v. State, 332 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1976) (same); see also State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072, 1076 (Fla. 1994) (the court is 'bound 'to resolve all doubts as to the validity of [the] statute in favor of its constitutionality'") (quoting State v. Elder, 382 So. 2d 687, 690 (Fla. 1980)); Firestone v. News-Press Publishing Co., 538 So. 2d 457, 459 (Fla. 1989) (Whenever possible, a statute should be construed so as not to conflict with the constitution."); Vildibill v. Johnson, 492 so. 2d 1047, 1050 (Fla. 1986) (even if a statute 'may reasonably be construed in more than one manner, this Court is obligated to adopt the construction that comports with the dictates of the Constitution"),

where a statute has been found to violate the equal protection courts will traditionally read into it the improperly excluded class."32

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the Fourth District Court of Appeal's affirmance of the trial court's dismissal with prejudice of the plaintiff's fourth amended complaint or should dismiss the case for lack of jurisdiction.